

The Avocado Paper: A Path Toward Ontology-based Predictive Models for Human–Autonomous Teaming

by Paul Shorter

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

NOTICES

Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.





The Avocado Paper: A Path Toward Ontology-based Predictive Models for Human–Autonomous Teaming

By Paul Shorter *Human Research and Engineering Directorate, CCDC Army Research Laboratory*

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			N PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.					
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
February 2020		Technical Note			April–September 2019
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE			ed Predictive Mo	dels for	5a. CONTRACT NUMBER
The Avocado Paper: A Path Toward Ontology-base Human–Autonomous Teaming					5b. GRANT NUMBER
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S) Paul Shorter					5d. PROJECT NUMBER
					5e. TASK NUMBER
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER
7. PERFORMING C	RGANIZATION NAMI	E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
	Research Laborato	ory			
ATTN: FCDD		0 1005 5060			ARL-TN-1005
Aberdeen Prov	ring Ground, MD	21005-5068			
9. SPONSORING/N	MONITORING AGENC	Y NAME(S) AND ADDRE	ESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)
12. DISTRIBUTION	AVAILABILITY STATE	MENT			
Approved for p	oublic release; dis	tribution is unlimit	ed.		
13. SUPPLEMENTA	ARY NOTES				
14. ABSTRACT					
The purpose of	f this report is to s	support one of four	Human–Autonor	nous Teaming	g (HAT) Essential Research Program
					eraction. Predictive models would enable
					or contingency in question, then apply time
					ted that an ontology framework could be nies. The data would then be directed to a
		e HAT scenarios.	theatry defined w		nes. The data would then be directed to a
15. SUBJECT TERMS					
predictive modeling, machine learning, ontology, taxonomy, modeling and simulation					
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
			OF ABSTRACT		Paul Shorter
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE			19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	UU	21	(410) 278-5968

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

Contents

List	t of Figures iv				
1.	Introduction				
2.	Ontology-based Predictive Models				
	2.1	Ontologies	2		
	2.2	Taxonomies	3		
	2.3	Data Considerations	4		
	2.4	Human Sciences Knowledge Domain	5		
3.	Con	clusion and Path Forward	9		
4.	References 11				
List	of Sy	mbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms	14		
Dist	ributi	ion	15		

List of Figures

Fig. 1	Ontology framework for human-science knowledge domain	7
Fig. 2	Notional taxonomy based on Bloom's cognition domain	8
Fig. 3	Triples based on OWL syntax	9
Fig. 4	Framework for ontology-based predictive models and data analytics	9

1. Introduction

This technical note describes an approach to developing a methodology to predict outcomes of human–autonomous interaction, based on a survey of current literature, pursuant to the US Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Army Research Laboratory (ARL) Human Research and Engineering Directorate (HRED) Human–Autonomous Teaming (HAT) Essential Research Program (ERP).

The military application of autonomous agents can arguably be traced back to the first and second world wars. Robotic platforms—for example, the Wickersham Land Torpedo, Kettering Bug, Leichter Ladungstrager Goliath, and FL-7 motorboat—were developed, and actually employed in some cases, in an attempt to gain military dominance on the land, sea, and air.¹ The development of GPS in the 1990s precipitated the modern concept of an autonomous agent.² Since then, aerial drones have been used for surveillance and target acquisition to great effect. US military ground and air robots number in the thousands and perform a variety of functions.

However, drones and robots have primarily been used as tools that augment Soldiers' capabilities, much like a truck, rifle, or other conventional equipment. In recent years, the US military has gained interest in developing agents that are truly autonomous by incorporating machine learning (ML) capabilities into various platforms. It is envisioned that autonomous agents will evolve from merely being Soldiers' tools to being functioning members of a military unit—a battle buddy.³

Toward that end, ARL/HRED initiated an HAT ERP to undertake related research in direct support of the Next-Generation Combat Vehicle (NGCV) and Soldier Lethality (SL) Cross-Functional Teams (CFTs). The HAT ERP approach conceives of not only the potential capabilities of future intelligent technologies, but the potential for completely novel interactions among heterogeneous teams of Soldiers and intelligent agents. It also reconceives approaches and requirements for training.

2. Ontology-based Predictive Models

The purpose of this technical note is to support one of four HAT ERP research areas that entails development of predictive models to evaluate HAT interaction. Predictive models would enable researchers to weigh the merits of a course of action pursuant to a given scenario or contingency in question, then apply time and resources to that action based on the strength of the model outcome. The statistician George Box is attributed with remarking that "all models are wrong, but some are useful". Keeping Box in mind, this report provides an approach to developing predictive models for HAT interaction based on current literature.

Modeling and simulation (M&S) has a long history of use in a variety of fields to support resource decisions, training scenarios, engineering design, and the development of products, to name a few. Technology advancements in these fields necessitate that M&S methods evolve to accommodate these advancements to remain current and effective. To achieve this, practitioners often design M&S architectures that enable the M&S methods to meet their purpose while providing flexibility to support changes in technology. Herein a similar concept is entertained within the context of HAT interaction. The HAT ERP is expansive and constantly evolving. The various research undertakings, while all moving toward a defined goal, span multiple domains; for example, neurotechnology, brain–computer interface, complex environment models, and naturalistic technology. An effective HAT interaction predictive model requires an architecture that can accommodate the depth and breadth of this research program.^{4–6}

The evolution of ML technology, integral to HAT interaction, has propagated the development and use of ontologies and taxonomies to define and integrate various domains that would otherwise be disjointed. It is posited that the same concept could be applied to HAT interaction M&S, in which taxonomies⁷ are stand-alone entities that define a given domain and act as arguments within an ontological architecture. The ontology defines relationships⁸ between or among taxonomies and enable the taxonomies to co-operate to achieve a goal; for example, predict HAT interaction outcomes.

2.1 Ontologies

Ontologies are commonly used by data analysts to integrate multiple concepts in a variety of ways. The ontologies provide a formal description of knowledge as a set of concepts within a domain, their attributes, and the relationships among them.⁹ Whereas taxonomies only provide a set of vocabulary and a single relationship between the terms, an ontology provides a set of relationships, constraints, and rules that establishes context and inference. This provides an architecture that defines knowledge representations that are sharable and reusable, yet flexible enough to be augmented with new knowledge about the domain.

Current literature cites several examples where ontological constructs enable efficient and reliable data integration and information exchange between different agents or systems to overcome capability limitations.¹⁰ For example, a given task may entail a team consisting of a human and two autonomous agents: one agent equipped with a visual sensor and the other designed for mobility. All activity is

managed by a common ontology. The human initiates a task sequence to either agent, which then exchanges visual data and spatial orientation coordinates to negotiate delivery of a payload. The agents have their respective limitations; however, they achieve the goal because their common ontology coordinates their activity.

Ontologies are also used to facilitate multimodal data sources that fuse data to develop a full description of the environment, thereby providing the user a basis for inference.¹¹ Furthermore, the environment is made open by allowing the addition or removal of modalities at any time according to the needs of the user.¹² The result yields a higher degree of environmental affordance¹³ where physical and digital properties enable cooperation and collaborative actions.

Having obtained a higher degree of affordance, inferences about the environmental state can be made through the exchange of information encoded in axioms and rules that provide a semantic foundation for dissimilar considerations;¹⁴ for example, statutory constraints, business rules, and workflow models. The ontology may also support inferences about the environmental state through the use of model-based mathematical methods¹⁵ that can also be encoded as intrinsic modeling capabilities¹⁶ or designed to reference subconstructs that perform those functions.¹⁴

2.2 Taxonomies

A taxonomy is a classification system that organizes a body of knowledge based on an underlying set of principles, definitions, and other considerations that serve to standardize a set of unifying constructs that can be used to systematically describe and interpret the contents therein. While ontologies provide broader context and inference, as previously described, taxonomies tend to be hierarchical in a manner that defines elements within their knowledge domains and how they relate.

Taxonomies are used by practitioners from many diverse fields. The Canadian military developed a taxonomy of cyber effects and threats to their computer networks that is used as the foundation for various applications; for example, training simulation, policy, and procedure analysis.¹⁷ Research on US Army intelligence training posited the use of a knowledge taxonomy to enhance intelligence training practices.¹⁸ The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development uses several taxonomies to monitor global economic activity.¹⁹ The US Securities and Exchange Commission uses a taxonomy to standardize corporate financial information to support reporting across multiple entities.²⁰

The list of taxonomy applications is extensive. However, in all cases the information a taxonomy provides is restricted to its own domain, as explained

previously. To create synergies beyond its domain or across multiple taxonomy domains, a taxonomy would need to be integrated into an ontology-based scheme. For example, an intelligence officer may need economic information that relates to an intelligence taxonomy to support an assessment. That need could be satisfied by an ontological scheme that relates both taxonomy domains. Alternatively, one taxonomy would have to subsume the other, which would likely be arduous, inefficient, and not readily adaptive to change.

Research literature favors the ontology-based scheme. There are many examples that integrate taxonomies to achieve a stated goal. The structure, definitions, and domain standardization provided by the taxonomy are leveraged to execute operations that are encoded in the ontology. They can be relatively simple, translating a taxonomy across multiple agents, or very complex, converting differing taxonomies into common terms. They have been applied in a variety of fields, including robotics and automation, decision support systems, and collaborative engineering design. Furthermore, taxonomies have also been used to predict outcomes. In some cases a taxonomy can be constructed for modeling and analysis methods that can be employed when certain criteria are met. The idea is to use abstractions of an operational scenario in question to automatically select the appropriate method.²¹ Alternatively, outcome predictions can be determined by applying appropriate methods to taxonomy instances that represent an operational scenario.

2.3 Data Considerations

The data used in ML and other data analytics applications are usually collected as a byproduct of normal business operations. Netflix serves as a common example of this evolution in which its business operations data are used to personalize movie recommendations, auto-generate thumbnails and artwork, scout locations for movie production, edit movies, and monitor streaming quality. Increasingly, businesses such as Netflix are starting to regard their data as a primary resource that can repurposed and leveraged beyond its original use.

As relevant research and ML practices have advanced, data used in these types of applications have been attributed with characteristics such as the following:

- Fine-grained in resolution and uniquely indexical in identification²²
- Relationality: containing common fields that enable the conjoining of different datasets²³
- Veracity: data can be messy and noisy, and contain uncertainty and error²⁴

- Value: many insights can be extracted and the data repurposed²⁴
- Variability: data whose meaning can be constantly shifting in relation to the context in which they are generated²⁴

These data characteristics are further emphasized in a report by Abassi et al.²⁵ that defines an information value chain (IVC), which explains the relationship between technologies, skill sets, processes, and organizational factors in this new data-analytics paradigm. Relative to the HAT ERP, the IVC differs from conventional management information systems primarily in the amalgamation of technologies into "platforms" and processes into "pipelines" that make data more readily available to users. It is conceivable that platforms and pipelines could entail ontologies and taxonomies to perform their functions. The concept of the IVC may also be inferred when considering the development of the combat cloud by the US military.²⁶ The combat cloud will be populated by data collected from conceivably any combat system platform that would serve as both sensor and effector. Thus, the data collected by the combat cloud are a byproduct of and used to support combat operations.

Data generated from ARL research experiments could also be regarded as a byproduct of ARL operations collected from HRED and HAT ERP experiments, which could include experiments that explicitly entail HAT interaction scenarios. While the primary purpose is to support research questions and hypotheses for a given study, the data could conceivably be repurposed to support predictive modeling for HAT interaction or any other human sciences application.²⁷

Therefore, in addition to supporting predictive models, these data considerations have cost-performance implications for human sciences research in general. If data can be repurposed to serve objectives in addition to their original application, ARL/HRED could use its resources more efficiently. Repurposing data, in effect, would be a budget multiplier.

2.4 Human Sciences Knowledge Domain

The intent of developing an ontology for human sciences research is to integrate information across the human sciences domain to support predictive models and other data analytics.

To conceptualize how an ontology-based framework might apply to the ARL/HRED research program, consider the Web Ontology Language (OWL), the syntax of which is designed to model a network of nodes and arcs based on three elements known as Classes, Individuals, and Properties, which form a "triple" taking the following form²⁸:

```
Nominal: individual -> property -> individual (or value)
Syntactical: subject -> predicate -> object
```

The predicate is the primary mechanism with which domain information is integrated by either relating subjects and objects or subjects and values (numeric, strings, etc.).

To further this conceptualization, consider the schematic presented in a recent ARL information briefing, shown in Fig. 1, that illustrates the ARL human sciences program delineated into research areas related by organizational and budget considerations.

The Fig. 1 schematic could serve as the framework for an ontology representing the human sciences knowledge domain, wherein the Tier 2 and Tier 3 elements represent classes and subclasses, respectively. Actual data elements (electroencephalogram parameters, electrocardiogram parameters, etc.) considered in each Tier 4 research activity represent individuals in the ontology and also represent the data input to any data analytics to be performed. Predicates are contextually defined to relate individuals to each other or to a data value. These classes, subclasses, individuals, and properties are constructed in triples as previously described.



Fig. 1 Ontology framework for human-science knowledge domain

As indicated in the Introduction, an ontology-based framework would also require taxonomies as stand-alone entities that define a given domain and act as arguments within an ontological architecture. The ontology defines relationships between or among taxonomies and enables the taxonomies to co-operate to achieve a goal (e.g., predict HAT interaction outcomes).

Figure 2 presents a notional data taxonomy, based on Bloom's cognitive domain,²⁹ to illustrate how taxonomies would apply to the human sciences ontology framework described. Notionally, such a taxonomy would represent the hierarchy of data collected from ARL/HRED research experiments, irrespective of organizational, operational, or budget considerations. The lowest element of a given taxonomy (i.e., data elements $\{x_1, x_2 \dots x_n\}, \{y_1, y_2 \dots y_n\}$) represent the actual data collected and correspond to the individuals defined in the ontology (electroencephalogram parameters, electrocardiogram parameters, etc.). In this framework, data elements could be retrieved from across all research activities to perform data analytics. In addition, in their role in ontology-based analytics, data taxonomies perform several other important functions:

• Provide a centralized repository for standardized data

- Enable re-use of data beyond the original intended purpose, thereby improving organizational cost performance
- Eliminate redundancy in data retrieval and storage
- Facilitate augmenting or restructuring of strategic or tactical processes
- Enable governance processes for fixing inconsistencies or providing feedback to users
- Detail rules for automating remediation of predictable inconsistencies
- Offer tools for sanitizing and normalizing data
- Reduce ambiguity; ensure consistency in data definitions and inclusion/exclusion



Fig. 2 Notional taxonomy based on Bloom's cognition domain

For illustrative purposes, assume that the taxonomical data elements shown in Fig. 3 represent actual data collected by the Tier 3 ontological research activities— Intuitive Naturalistic Technologies and Creating Group Synergies, indicated in Fig. 1. Triples can be formed based on the OWL syntax, as shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3 Triples based on OWL syntax

Figure 4 presents a schematic of how the ontology and taxonomy combine to form the total framework for predictive models and data analytics. The predicates "Contains", "Contained In", and "Sibling Of" relate data elements across the human sciences knowledge domain, while the predicates "Converts To" and "Derives From" relate data values that would be used to perform predictive modeling and other data analytics.



Fig. 4 Framework for ontology-based predictive models and data analytics

3. Conclusion and Path Forward

A survey of current literature indicates that artificial intelligence and data analytic practices entail the use of ontologies to integrate data, and taxonomies to define data, across one or more knowledge domains. The many benefits of an ontology-based approach include horizontally integrating knowledge across the entire knowledge domain, vertically standardizing data definitions within the knowledge domain, repurposing collected data in addition to their original intended use (thereby improving the cost-effectiveness of the organization as a whole), adapting to evolutions in research initiatives, and lending itself to more effectively employing ML methodologies.

A notional example is provided of how these practices and methodologies may apply to ARL/HRED, based on an ARL/HRED taxonomy of research activities that in turn serves as the ontological foundation, the "triples concept" employed in the OWL, and Bloom's taxonomy of the cognitive domain. While the example provided is notional, it will serve as the conceptual basis for ensuing efforts focus on a proof of principle and development of a working prototype. Toward that end, future efforts may also consider implications of CFTs, (e.g., NGCV and SL), and possibly initiatives undertaken by the US Army branches (i.e., Combat Arms, Combat Support, and Combat Service Support).

4. References

- McFadden C. A brief history of military robots including autonomous systems. Interesting Engineering; 2018 Nov 6 [accessed 2019 Oct 10] https://interestingengineering.com/a-brief-history-of-military-robotsincluding-autonomous-systems.
- Singer PW. Drones don't die: a history of military robotics. History Net; 2011 [accessed 2019 Oct 10]. https://www.historynet.com/drones-dont-die-ahistory-of-military-robotics.htm.
- Cassenti D, Schaefer K. A network science approach to future human-robot interaction. Proceedings of the 5th Annual Inter-Disciplinary Conference on Cognitive Methods in Situation Awareness and Decision Support (CogSIMA); 2015; Orlando, FL.
- 4. Caillou P, Grignard A, Gaudou B, Truong Q. A simple-to-use BDI architecture for agent-based modeling and simulation. Presented at the 11th Conference of the European Social Simulation Association Conference; 2015 Sep; Groningen, Netherlands.
- Schenk T, Gilg A, Muhlbauer M, Rosen R, Wehrstedt J. Computing and visualization in science: architecture for modeling and simulation of technical systems along their lifecycle. Computing and Visualization in Science. 2015 Aug;17:167–183.
- Piraghaj S, Calheiros R, Dastjerdi A, Buyya R. ContainerCloudSim an environment for modeling and simulation of containers in cloud data centers. Software Practice and Experience. 2016 June;00:1–17.
- Costin A, Issa R, Eastman C. The need for taxonomies in the ontological approach for interoperability of heterogeneous info models. Proceedings of the ASCE International Workshop on Computing in Civil Engineering; 2017 June 25–27; Seattle, WA. doi: https://ascelibrary.org/doi/abs/10.1061 /9780784480830.002.
- 8. PoolParty semantic suite: anatomy of an ontology [accessed 2019 Oct 10]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bxVqppNWSyE.
- Prestes E, Fiorini S, Carbonera J, Jorge V. Towards a core ontology for robotics and automation, robotics and autonomous systems. In Goncalves PGS, Schlenoff C, Prestes E, Haidegger T, editors. Proceedings of the standardized knowledge representation and ontologies for robotics and automation workshop; 2014 Sep 18; Chicago, IL. p. 1193–1204.

- Jorge V, Maffei R, Vitor R, Fiorini S. Exploring the IEEE ontology for robotics and automation for heterogeneous agent interaction. Robotics and Computerintegrated Manufacturing. 2015;33(C);12–20.
- Bonial C, Brown S, Tahmoush D, Palmer M. Multimodal use of an upper-level event ontology. Proceedings of the 4th Workshop of Events: Definition Detection, Conference, and Representation; 2016 June 17; San Diego, CA.
- 12. Djaid N, Saadia N, Cherif A. Multimodal fusion engine for an intelligent assistant robot using ontology. Procedia Computer Science. 2015;52:129–136.
- 13. Bardram J, Houben S. Collaborative affordances of medical records. Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 2018;27(1):1–36.
- 14. Sotarra D, Bragaglia S, Pulcini D, Mello P, Giunchi D. Ontologies, rules and predictive models: knowledge assets for an EDSS. In: Seppelt R, Voinov AA, Lange S, Bankamp D, editors. Proceedings of the 6th International Congress on Environmental Modelling and Software; 2012 July; Leipzig, Germany.
- Bishop C. Model based machine learning. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences; 2013 Feb 13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2012.0222.
- Emna H, Hamadou A, Jamoussi S. A new method for building probabilistic ontology. International Journal of Information Technology and Web Engineering, 2017;12(2):1–25.
- 17. Bernier M. Military activities and cyber effects taxonomy. Ottawa (Canada): Defence R&D Canada Centre for Operational Research and Analysis; 2013.
- Ruiz V. A knowledge taxonomy for Army intelligence training using Lundvall's knowledge taxonomy. San Marcos (TX): Department of Political Science, Texas State University; 2010.
- Galinda-Rueda F, Verger F. OECD taxonomy of economic activities based on R&D intensity: OECD science, technology and industry working papers. Paris (France): Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2016 Apr.
- Cormier D, Dufour D, Luu P, Teller P, Teller R. The relevance of XBRL voluntary disclosure for stock market valuation: the role of corporate governance. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences; 2018 Mar 13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002 /cjas.1483.

- 21. Ookubu M, Sasajima M, Koji Y, Kitamura Y. Towards interoperability between functional taxonomies using ontology-based mapping. Proceedings of the International Conference on Engineering Design; 2007 Aug 28–31; Paris, France.
- Dodge M, Kitchin R. Codes of life: identification codes and the machine readable world, environment and planning. Society and Space. 2005;23:851– 881.
- Boyd D, Crawford K. Critical questions for big data: provocations for cultural, technological and scholarly phenomenon. Information, Communication & Society. 2012;15(5):662–679.
- Hadi H, Shnain A, Hadishaheed S, Ahmad A. Big data and 5 Vs characteristics. International Journal of Advances in Electronics and Computer Science. 2015;2(1):16–23.
- Abassi A, Sarker S, Chiang R. Big data research in information systems: toward an inclusive research agenda. International Journal of Production Research; 2016 Feb [accessed 2019 Oct 10]. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/298717827.
- Kiser A, Hess J, Bouhafa E, Williams S. The combat cloud: enabling multidomain command and control across the range of military operations. Maxwell AFB (AL): Air Command and Staff College; 2015.
- 27. Dinov I, Heavner B, Tang M, Glusman G, Chard K, Darcy M, Madduri R, Pa J, Spino C, Kesselman C, Foster I, Deutsch E, Price N, Toga A. Predictive big data analytics: a study of Parkinson's disease using large, complex, heterogeneous, incongruent, multi-source and incomplete observations. Vaudois (Switzerland): Centre Hospitalier Universitaire, Vaudois, Switzerland; 2016.
- Drummond N, Horridge M, Dameron O, Rector A, Wang H. A practical introduction to Protégé OWL. Manchester (UK): The University of Manchester; 2006.
- 29. Callister P. Time to blossom: an inquiry into Bloom's taxonomy as a hierarchy and means for teaching legal research skills. Law Library Journal. 2010;102(2):191–220.

List of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms

ARL	US Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Army Research Laboratory
CFT	Cross-Functional Team
ERP	Essential Research Program
HAT	Human–Autonomous Teaming
HRED	Human Research and Engineering Directorate
IVC	information value chain
ML	machine learning
M&S	modeling and simulation
NGCV	Next-Generation Combat Vehicle
OWL	Web Ontology Language
SL	Soldier Lethality

1 (PDF)	DEFENSE TECHNICAL INFORMATION CTR DTIC OCA
	CCDC ARL FCDD RLD CL TECH LIB
	ARMY RSCH LAB – HRED FCDD DAS LHA T DAVIS BLDG 5400 RM C242 REDSTONE ARSENAL AL 35898-7290
1 (PDF)	HQ US ARMY CCDC DIR. HUMAN SYSTEMS
	INTEGRATION
(PDF)	J A THOMAS ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND MD 21005
1 (PDF)	USAF 711 HPW 711 HPW/RH K GEISS 2698 G ST BLDG 190 WRIGHT PATTERSON AFB OH 45433-7604
	USN ONR ONR CODE 341 J TANGNEY 875 N RANDOLPH STREET BLDG 87 ARLINGTON VA 22203-1986
1 (PDF)	USA NSRDEC RDNS D D TAMILIO 10 GENERAL GREENE AVE NATICK MA 01760-2642
1 (PDF)	OSD OUSD ATL HPT&B B PETRO 4800 MARK CENTER DRIVE SUITE 17E08 ALEXANDRIA VA 22350

ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND

- 12 ARL
- (PDF) FCDD RLH J LANE P FRANASZCZUK K MCDOWELL

FCDD RLH BD D HEADLEY **P SHORTER** FCDD RLH FA A DECOSTANZA FCDD RLH FC J GASTON FCDD RLH FD A EVANS A MARATHE FCDD RLH P K OIE FCDD RLS EI Y CHEN FCSS RLS EI FCDD DAS LHC L GARRETT FCDD DAS LHD F MORELLI